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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT
August Term, 2000

(Submitted: November 15, 2000 (Decided: January 10, 2001)

Docket No. 00-1039(L ), 00-1040

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Appellee,
V. —
CHARLES WHITE, ak/a“Mr. Buck”, and FABIAN HART,

Defendants-Appel lants.

Before: KEARSE, LEVAL, and SOTOMAY OR, Circuit Judges.

Defendants conditionally pled guilty to one count of failing to file reports of cash paymentsin
excess of $10,000, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 60501 (1994), preserving for appeal the issue whether
Section 60501 gppliesto transactions that occur exclusvely within American Indian reservations. We
hold that Section 60501 does apply to such transactions and affirm defendants repective convictions

and sentences.
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BARBARA D. COTTRELL, Assstant United States Attorney, Albany, New
York (Danid J. French, United States Attorney for the Northern
Digtrict of New York, Gregory A. West, Assstant United States
Attorney, Syracuse, New Y ork, on the brief), for Appellee.

STANLEY L. COHEN, New York, New Y ork, for Defendants-Appellants.

SOTOMAY OR, Circuit Judge:

On October 29, 1998, defendants Charles White and Fabian Hart (“defendants’) entered
conditiond pleas of guilty to separate one-count Informations charging them with violating 31 U.SC. 8
5313(a) (1994) by willfully faling to prepare and file IRS Form 8300 reports of currency transactions
in which they received more than $10,000 in cash, as required by 26 U.S.C. § 60501.) The conditiond
pleas reserved for review by this Court the issue whether defendants, as Mohawks conducting business
within the &. Regis Mohawk Indian Reservation, alk/a“ Akwesasne’ (“the Reservation”), were “asa
matter of law, required to prepare and file the . . . Form 8300 [reports] for cash transactions exceeding
$10,000.” We hold that defendants were required to prepare and file such reports and affirm

defendants’ respective judgments of conviction and sentences.

! We note that in the course of correctly charging the offense of willful falure to file
currency transaction reports on Interna Revenue Service Form 8300, as required by 26 U.S.C. 8§
6060I, the Informations added the incorrect assertion that this conduct violated 31 U.S.C. § 5313(a).
The latter section covers the requirement on financia ingtitutions to file reports on IRS Form 4789, not
the requirement to file reports on Form 8300. As no prgjudice or confusion resulted from this
surplusage, and it is not raised on gppedl, we mention the point only for clarification.

-2-



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

BACKGROUND

On June 20, 1997, Hart and White (dlong with 19 others) were indicted in the United States
Digrict Court for the Northern Digtrict of New Y ork on charges of conspiracy, money laundering, and
racketeering, based on their rolesin a scheme to smuggle significant amounts of acohol and tobacco
from the United States into Canada through the Reservation, which straddles the border between the
two nations. A superceding indictment containing essentidly the same charges was filed on July 10,
1997. Severd defendants, including Hart and White, moved the didtrict court to dismissthe
superceding indictment on April 20, 1998. The digtrict court denied the motion on October 7, 1998.

On October 29, 1998, Hart and White waived ther right to an indictment and separate one-
count Informations against them were filed with the digtrict court. The Informations charged Hart and
White with willfully violating Section 60501 by failing to prepare and file Form 8300 reports of currency
transactions in which they recelved cash payments in excess of $10,000. During the plea proceedings,
Hart and White each moved the district court to dismiss their Informations, claming that they were not
required to file Form 8300 reports for transactions conducted exclusively within the Reservation. The
digtrict court denied these motions.

Hart and White then entered conditiond pleas of guilty, pursuant to Rule 11(g)(2) of the

Federd Rules of Criminad Procedure, to their Informations.

In their respective plea agreements, Hart and White acknowledged that between January 1, 1991 and
June 20, 1997, they each operated separate wholesale warehouses — |ocated within the portion of the
Reservation that iswithin the borders of the United States— where they sold large quantities of
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cigarettes and liquor. Furthermore, Hart and White admitted that they knew that United States law
provides that cash transactions involving more than $10,000 must be reported to the IRS, yet on
numerous occasions during the aforementioned period of warehouse operation, they accepted such

cash payments

and willfully failed to prepare and file Form 8300 reports of these transactions. The pleas were
conditiona in that they reserved for review by this Court the issue whether, as Mohawks residing and
conducting business within the Reservation, defendants were required to prepare and file Form 8300

reports.

On December 28, 1999, Hart was sentenced to fifteen (15) months imprisonment, ordered to
forfelt certain assets, and fined $10,000. White was sentenced to five (5) months imprisonmernt,
ordered to forfeit certain assets, and fined $6,000. Both Hart and White were released from custody

pending the outcome of this apped.

DISCUSSION

|. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

We review questions of subject matter jurisdiction de novo. See Dew v. United States, 192

F.3d 366, 371 (2d Cir. 1999).

With certain exceptions to be discussed below, federd laws of genera applicability are
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presumed to apply to American Indians, regardless of whether they reside on or off areservation. See
Reich v. Mashantucket Sand & Gravel, 95 F.3d 174, 177 (2d Cir. 1996). Thus, for example, itis
well settled that American Indians are subject to the federd incometax. See Squire v. Capoeman,
351 U.S. 1, 6 (1956) (“Indiansare citizensand . . . in ordinary affairs of life, not governed by treaties

or remedid legidation, they are subject to the payment of income taxes as are other citizens”).

Defendants maintain that they were not required to file Form 8300 reports because their cash
transactions fell under one of the four exceptions to the reporting requirement that are specified in
subsection (d) of 26 C.F.R. 8 1.6050I-1, specificdly, subsection (d)(4), which isentitled, “Recelpt is
meade with respect to aforeign cash transaction.”  Subsection (d)(4)(ii) definesthis as the “*foreign

transaction exception.”” The exception provides as follows:

Generdly, there is no requirement to report with respect to a cash transaction if the
entire transaction occurs outside the United States (the fifty states and the Didtrict of
Columbia). An entire transaction conssts of both the transaction . . . and the receipt of
cash by the recipient. If, however, any part of an entire transaction occursin the
Commonwedth of Puerto Rico or a possession or territory of the United States and the
recipient of cash in that transaction is subject to the generd jurisdiction of the Interna
Revenue Service under title 26 of the United States Code, the recipient is required to
report the transaction under this section.

26 C.F.R. § 1.60501-1(d)(4)(i).? Defendants contend that because (1) the transactions for which they
were prosecuted “ remained exclusively within the boundary of the St. Regis Mohawk Indian

Reservation,” and (2) the Reservation “is[neither] adate. . . [nor] Washington D.C., nor . . . a

2 This exception derives from 26 U.S.C. § 60501(c)(2), which provides that “[€]xcept to
the extent provided in regulations prescribed by the Secretary, [the reporting requirement of Section
60501 (a)] shal not apply to any transaction if the entire transaction occurs outside the United States.”
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territory or possession of the United States,” the transactions in question quadified for the “foreign

transaction exception.”

This argument rests on a fundamental misreading of Section 1.60501-1(d)(4). Section 1.6050I-
1(d)(4) exempts from the reporting requirement transactions that take place completely “outsde the
United States’ in foreign places. Thefifty states and the Didtrict of Columbia are obvioudy part of the
United States. So too are Puerto Rico and the possessions and territories of the United States. Hence,
the question is not whether an American Indian reservation is one of the fifty states, the Didrict of
Columbia, Puerto Rico, or a possession or territory of the United States, but whether an American
Indian reservation islocated “outside the United States.” 1t iswell settled that American Indian
reservations have been “incorporat[ed] within the territory of the United States,” United States v.
Whesler, 435 U.S. 313, 323 (1978), and thus are not foreign territory, see Washington v.
Confederated Tribes of the Colville Indian Reservation, 447 U.S. 134, 165 (1980) (Brennan, J.,
concurring in part, dissenting in part) (“While they are sovereign for some purposes, it is now clear that
Indian reservations do not partake of the full territorid sovereignty of States or foreign countries.”);
United Sates v. Wadena, 152 F.3d 831, 847 (8" Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1050 (1999);
(“[T]riba governments are dependent sovereigns — not independent foreign ones.”); White v.
Califano, 437 F. Supp. 543, 547 (D.S.D. 1977) (“The Indian tribes have vestiges of sovereignty
which must be guarded carefully, but reservations are not andogous to foreign states.”), aff’ d, 581
F.2d 697 (8™ Cir. 1978). Because American Indian reservations are not outside the United States, we

hold that such reservations— more specifically, the portions of such reservations located within the
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territorial boundaries of the United States— are not exempted from Section 60501’ s reporting
requirement by the “foreign transaction exception” of Section 1.60501-1(d)(4). Cf. Crossv.
Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 98 T.C. 613, 615 (1992) (rgjecting American Indian taxpayer’s
reliance on 26 U.S.C. § 6213(a), which grants “person[ ] outsde the United States’ additiond time to
apped anatice of deficiency, on ground that his “reservation is unquestionably physicaly located wholly

insde the boundaries of Washington State and thus the United States’).

This holding is reinforced by application to Section 60501 of this Court’ s test for determining
whether afederd statute of generd gpplicability appliesto American Indians® In Reich v.
Mashantucket Sand & Gravel, this Court adopted the Ninth Circuit’s test for determining whether “a
generd datute in terms gpplying to al personsincludes Indians and their property interests” 95 F.3d

174, 177 (2d Cir. 1996) (interna quotation marks omitted). Under this approach,

[a] federd datute of generd applicability thet is Slent on the issue of applicability to
Indian tribeswill . . . goply tothem . . . [unless]: (1) the law touches "exclusive rights of
sdf-governancein purdy intramurd matters'; (2) the application of the law to the tribe
would "abrogate rights guaranteed by Indian treeties'; or (3) thereis proof "by
legiddtive history or some other means that Congress intended [the law] not to apply to
Indians on their reservations.

Id. (quoting Donovan v. Coeur d'Alene Tribal Farm, 751 F.2d 1113, 1116 (9" Cir. 1985)) (third

bracketsin origind).

Applying thistest to Section 60501, the first question is whether the statute “touches exclusive

3 Section 60501 (a) is a Satue of generd applicability because it gpplies by itstermsto
“[alny person.”
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rights of sdf-governance in purdly intramurd matters.” “‘Purdy intramurd maiters generdly involve
matters such as tribd membership, inheritance rules, and domestic relaions” Reich, 95 F.3d at 179.
Defendants do not argue, let done establish, for example, that application of Section 60501 to Indians
“threatens [g] [t]ribe’ s ability to govern” tribd membership, triba inheritance, and/or tribal domestic
relaions. 1d. (internal quotation marks omitted). Second, defendantsfail to establish that the statute
would “abrogate rights guaranteed by Indian tregties” Findly, the legidative history of Section 60501 is
devoid of any indication that Congress intended that it not apply to Indians, whether on or off the
reservation. See H.R. Rep. No. 98-432 (1984); H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 98-861 (1984). As defendants
have failed to establish that Section 60501 fallswithin any of the three Reich exceptions, it follows that

Section 60501 is applicable to defendants.*

In sum, we hold that, even assuming that the transactions for which defendants were prosecuted

4 We notethat, in United States v. Markiewicz, this Court held that crimind statues
concerning (i) Indian-on-Indian offenses occurring on Indian reservations, and (ii) offenses other than
the 13 offenses enumerated in the Indian Mgor Crimes Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1153, apply to Indians,
provided that the offenses are ones “* as to which there is an independent federd interest to be
protected.”” 978 F.2d 786, 800 (2d Cir. 1992) (quoting United States v. Wheeler, 435 U.S. 313,
331 n.32 (1978)). Defendants appear to refer to this test when they contend that the transactions for
which they were prosecuted “were exclusively between and among Indianson Indian land.” This
contention, however, is insufficient to require gpplication of the Markiewicz test. Defendants were not
prosecuted for engaging in business transactions with other Indians. Indeed, they were not prosecuted
for any Indian-on-Indian offense. The only possible victim of aviolation of Section 60501 is the United
Satesitsdf.

Furthermore, even if it were appropriate to gpply the Markiewicz test to this case, such
application would yield the result that these statutes were gpplicable to defendants' conduct on the
ground that they protect independent federd interests, namely, the federd government’sinterest in
discouraging money laundering and collecting tax revenues. See Bickham Lincoln-Mercury Inc. v.
United Sates, 168 F.3d 790, 793 (5" Cir. 1999) (“The purpose of [Section 60501’ s] reporting
requirement is to detect money laundering schemes.”).
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took place exclusvely within the territory of the St. Regis Mohawk Indian Reservation, defendants

were required by Section 60501 to report those transactions to the IRS.

II. MensRea

Defendants argue in the dternative that, even assuming that Section 60501 appliesto the
transactions in question, the respective Informations to which they pled guilty should be dismissed
because they did not willfully violate the reporting requirements of Section 60501. The Government
responds that defendants waived this argument upon entry of their respective conditiond guilty pleasto
the charged violations of Section 60501. We agree. See Hayle v. United States, 815 F.2d 879, 881
(2d Cir. 1987) (“1tiswdll settled that a defendant’ s plea of guilty admits al of the eements of aforma
crimina charge, and, in the absence of a court-agpproved reservation of issues for apped, waives dl
chalenges to the prosecution except those going to the Court’ sjurisdiction.”) (internd citation omitted).
To be sure, the district court below gpproved reservation of an issue for apped, but it was not the issue
of whether defendants willfully violated Section 60501. Rather, it was the issue of whether this section

applies to transactions that occurred exclusvely within the Reservation.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed, defendants’ respective judgments of conviction and sentence are

affirmed.



